FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
6/23/2025 4:05 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/24/2025 BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

Case #: 1043171

Supreme Court No.

COA No. 39421-2-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

YASIR DARRAJI,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SPOKANE COUNTY

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jessica Wolfe Attorney for Petitioner, Yasir Darraji

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, Washington 98101 jessica@washapp.org (206) 587-2711

A. INTRODUCTION

Following September 11th, this country was gripped by Islamophobia. Muslim countries were portrayed on the nightly news as barbaric and backwards. Muslim men were stereotyped as terrorists and religious extremists; Muslim women were in turn seen as forcibly veiled and oppressed. By contrast, America was portrayed as a crusader of democracy and Christian values: the land of the "free."

These tropes are now entrenched in the national consciousness. During his campaign, President Barack Obama combated rumors that he was secretly Muslim and therefore "anti-American." President Trump was elected in 2016 in part due to his promotion of a so-called "Muslim Ban."

¹ See generally, Khaled A. Beydoun, "Acting Muslim," 53 Harv. C.R.-C.L. L. Rev 1, 20–23 (2018).

² CBC, "Obama campaign says New Yorker cartoon goes too far" (July 14, 2008), *available at* https://www.cbc.ca/news/entertainment/obama-campaign-says-new-yorker-cartoon-goes-too-far-1.724065.

³ Jessica Taylor, "Trump Calls for 'Total and Complete Shutdown of Muslims Entering' U.S.," NPR (Dec. 7. 2015).

In the case at bar, anti-Muslim sentiment infected the proceedings from start to finish.

Authorities investigated Ibtihal Darraji's death as an "honor killing" based on her association with Spokane's Iraqi Muslim refugee community and a detective's reading of a Wikipedia entry.

At trial, the prosecution remained wedded to this theory, asserting Ms. Darraji was murdered by her ex-husband, Yasir Darraji, because she converted to Christianity and embraced newfound "freedoms" like driving, drinking, and wearing shorts after the couple immigrated to the United States. As the prosecution repeatedly labeled it, Ms. Darraji had "Americanized."

But when the prosecution attempted to elicit evidence from its own witnesses to support this theory, it came up short.

Undeterred, the prosecution argued to the jury in closing that

Ms. Darraji's conversion to Christianity was "the beginning of

the end" and that she was given the Iraqi "death sentence" because her community viewed her as a "bad girl."

This was a flagrant and apparently intentional appeal to anti-Muslim bias. Despite this, the Court of Appeals affirmed in a published, split opinion. While the majority expressed skepticism that "the heightened scrutiny of race-based misconduct" applies to "cultural or religion-based stereotypes," *State v. Darraji*, 568 P.3d 1143, 1154 (2025), Judge Fearing correctly acknowledged that "Islamophobia has become a distinct form of racism." Dissent at 16 (Slip Op.).

This Court should take review to clarify that

Islamophobia is just as harmful to precepts of justice as other
forms of racial and ethnic discrimination, and that the
prosecutorial misconduct in Mr. Darraji's case was per se
prejudicial.

B. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Yasir Darraji, the petitioner, asks this Court to review the opinion of the Court of Appeals in *State v. Darraji*, 568 P.3d 1143 (May 22, 2025), which was published in part.

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The right to a fair trial includes the right to an impartial jury. U.S. Const. amend. VI, XIV; Const. art. I, § 22; *Peña-Rodriguez v. Colorado*, 580 U.S. 206 (2017). In *State v. Zamora*, 199 Wn.2d 698, 512 P.3d 512 (2022) and *State v. Bagby*, 200 Wn.2d 777, 522 P.3d 932 (2023), this Court held that the right to an impartial jury is violated when an objective observer could view a prosecutor's conduct as an appeal to racial or ethnic stereotypes, and that such misconduct is per se prejudicial. Ethnic identity can include nationality, religion, culture, and language, and can also intersect with racial

identity.⁴ Here, the prosecutor associated Mr. Darraji with stereotypes about Iraqi Islamic fundamentalism, and argued he murdered his ex-wife to preserve his honor after she converted to Christianity and "Americanized." This gratuitous injection of an ethnic divide—rooted in themes of nationalism and Islamophobia—was not supported by the State's evidence. This Court should take review and hold that *Zamora* and *Bagby's* objective observer standard extends to a prosecutor's improper appeals to Islamophobia, and to all other forms of discrimination that intersect with race and ethnicity. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

2. Hearsay not subject to any exception is inadmissible, as is evidence that is too prejudicial to outweigh its probative value. Here, the court allowed inflammatory hearsay that Ms. Darraji feared the Iraqi "death penalty" as evidence of

⁴ See Merriam-Webster, "Ethnic," available at https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/ethnic (last accessed June 20, 2025).

harassment—a charge the Court of Appeals reversed for insufficient evidence—even though these statements were both hearsay and extremely prejudicial to the second-degree murder charge. This inadmissible, prejudicial evidence deprived Mr. Darraji of a fair trial, and warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

- 3. Pursuant to CrR 3.3, the State's requests for trial continuances over a jailed defendant's objection must be supported by a documented need, and proof the State will provide a trial within a reasonable time. Here, the court granted the State's requests for lengthy continuances over Mr. Darraji's objections and without showing a specific need for the additional time or evidence his trial could be held within a reasonable time, in violation of his rule-based right to speedy trial. Review is warranted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(2).
- 4. A person has the constitutional right to a unanimous jury. *State v. Espinoza*, 14 Wn. App. 2d 810, 815, 474 P.3d 570 (2020); *Ramos v. Louisiana*, 590 U.S. 83, 90–93 (2020); *State*

v. Petrich, 101 Wn.2d 566, 569, 683 P.2d 173 (1984); Const. art. 1, § 22; U.S. Const. amend. VI. Here, the State sought added punishment based on the aggravating factor that the murder had a "foreseeable and destructive impact on persons other than the victims." Without electing any specific conduct, the prosecutor told the jury this aggravator could be based on Mr. Darraji's children, firefighters, the deceased's friends, and unidentified persons in the decedent's "community." Whether the prosecutor's failure to elect the conduct supporting the aggravating factor violates Mr. Darraji's right to a unanimous jury verdict presents a significant question of constitutional law that warrants this Court's review. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

5. The State violates the constitution by taking away "someone's life, liberty, or property under a criminal law so vague that it fails to give ordinary people fair notice of the conduct it punishes, or so standardless that it invites arbitrary enforcement." *Johnson v. United States*, 576 U.S. 591, 594 (2015); Const. art. I, § 3; U.S. Const. amend. XIV. The

aggravator alleging Mr. Darraji's conduct had a "destructive and foreseeable impact on persons other than the victim" is void for vagueness as applied to him because it encompassed a large swath of people that Mr. Darraji could not anticipate.

Whether this aggravator is void for vagueness merits review as a significant question of constitutional law. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

6. The constitutional rights to due process and trial by jury guarantee a jury finding beyond a reasonable doubt for every fact essential to punishment. *Erlinger v. United States*, 602 U.S. 821, 831–32 (2024); *Hurst v. Florida*, 577 U.S. 92, 97-98 (2016); *Blakely v. Washington*, 542 U.S. 296, 306 (2004); U.S. Const. amend. VI, XIV; Const. art. I, §§ 21, 22. In accordance with these constitutional rights, courts may not impose a sentence above the standard range based on additional judicial fact-finding. Here, the court found that there were substantial and compelling reasons to impose an exceptional sentence based on facts not found by a jury. This included factual findings that Mr. Darraji had intended to "disfigure" and

"mutilat[e]" his ex-wife's body by setting it on fire. Mr.

Darraji's constitutional rights to due process and trial by jury
were violated by the court's judicial fact finding, warranting
this Court's review. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

7. Accused persons have the constitutional right to know the charges against them. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Const. art. I, § 22; *Russell v. United States*, 369 U.S. 749 (1962). An information is constitutionally defective if it fails to list the essential elements of a crime. Here, the information failed to identify who constituted the "persons other than the victim" to support the aggravator. Whether this rendered the information deficient is a significant question of constitutional law that warrants this Court's review. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Based on her association with the Iraqi Muslim community, police investigate Ibtihal Darraji's death as an "honor killing."

Yasir and Ibtihal Darraji were married in Iraq and immigrated to the United States in 2014 with their two young

children, T.D. and D.D. RP1139-40. Several years later, the Darrajis divorced. RP1141. Mr. Darraji started dating another woman with whom he lived and had a child. RP2096-97.

When Mr. and Ms. Darraji's oldest child, T.D., was 11 or 12 years old, she chose to live with Mr. Darraji because she did not get along with her mother. RP1867. T.D. remained close to her father and appreciated that he "took care of us. He listened to us. He gave us the freedom to make our own choices" and supported them in "every decision." RP1871. D.D. also primarily lived with his father but regularly saw his mother. 8/20/20 RP9. ⁵

On January 30, 2020, Ms. Darraji was scheduled to pick up D.D. from Mr. Darraji's home. RP762. Around 6:00 p.m., when Ms. Darraji was supposed to pick up D.D., Mr. Darraji spoke on the phone to one of his closest friends, and then again at 7:17 p.m. RP1678-79, 1667. In the second call he told his

⁵ Reference to the VRP that is not consecutively paginated will include a date.

friend that when Ms. Darraji arrived to pick up D.D., the inside of her car smelled like marijuana. RP1680. When Mr. Darraji asked her about it, she got angry, hit the steering wheel, and left without taking D.D. RP1680. Mr. Darraji told his friend that D.D. was staying with him that night and Mr. Darraji was going to bed early. RP1683-84.

That same evening, sometime between 9:00 and 10:00 p.m., a person reported a burning car in a parking lot of a nearby park. RP832. Firefighters responded and found Ms. Darraji. RP855-56. An autopsy revealed she had been strangled and was dead before the fire was set. RP932, 1044.

The next day, Mr. Darraji drove to work at his normal time. RP1684. When Mr. Darraji was at work, an acquaintance called and told him she heard Ms. Darraji was dead. RP1158.

Mr. Darraji hurriedly left work at the end of his shift, saying he had a family emergency. RP1126-29. Police stopped Mr. Darraji as he was driving away. RP1181. Mr. Darraji was calm and was cooperative. RP1195-96.

Mr. Darraji was taken to the police station and interrogated. He told police he met Ms. Darraji outside his apartment in the parking lot, that they had a dispute, and Ms. Darraji left. RP1567. Mr. Darraji told police afterwards he checked his mailbox and then he drove around the Spokane Valley and listened to some music for a couple hours. RP1568.

The detectives posited from the outset of their investigation that this was an "honor killing," a term they defined from a Wikipedia entry. CP179-80.

2. At trial, the prosecutor depicted the case as a conflict between American Christianity and Islamic fundamentalism.

The prosecutor adopted the detective's belief that this was an "honor killing," by focusing on Ms. Darraji's adherence to Christianity and her "freedoms" after her divorce, including whether she wore a headscarf, got a job, drove a car and went to nightclubs and started drinking. RP732-34; 805-06; 814-19; 1142-43; 1949. The witnesses attested to some changes after Ms. Darraji's divorce, but did not endorse the prosecutor's

theory that Ms. Darraji adopted an "Americanized" lifestyle or converted to Christianity after divorcing Mr. Darraji. RP734; 1147. Still, the prosecutor argued in closing that Ms. Darraji's adherence to Christianity was the "beginning of the end for [Ms. Darraji]." RP2174. The prosecutor argued Ms. Darraji's purported cultural and religious changes were a "death sentence in Iraq; maybe here, too." RP2189.

3. Mr. Darraji is convicted and given an exceptionally high prison sentence.

The State alleged the aggravating factor that "persons other than the victim" suffered a "destructive and foreseeable impact" from the crime. CP132. The prosecutor first argued this aggravator applied to Mr. Darraji's children. RP2193. But the prosecutor also argued every witness who testified at trial could be considered in the State's allegation of the aggravator: "This death has impacted the entire community . . . her family, her friends, even the firefighters who pulled her out of the car. A destructive impact on these folks." RP2194.

The jury convicted Mr. Darraji of harassment and felony murder with the aggravator. CP408-12.

The court imposed an exceptional sentence after making additional findings. CP441-42. The court found the aggravator applied to all the people the prosecutor identified. CP442. The court also found "the defendant did not set [Ms. Darraji] on fire to destroy evidence, but instead to disfigure the victim." CP442. In addition, the court found this "mutilation" to be "incredible brutal and cold [sic]." CP442. The court also found Mr. Darraji "has never shown any remorse," and that he "poses a danger to the community." CP442. The court entered an exceptional sentence of 300 months, 56 months above the top of the standard range. CP430-31; CP442.

Mr. Darraji appealed. In the published portion of its opinion, the Court of Appeals rejected Mr. Darraji's argument that the prosecutor engaged in misconduct by invoking Islamophobic tropes. Slip Op. at 20–30. In the unpublished portion, the Court reversed the felony harassment charge for

insufficient evidence, rejected Mr. Darraji's other arguments, and remanded for resentencing. *Id.* at 31–57.

Judge Fearing filed a dissent, stating that the prosecutor "gratuitously painted victim Ibtihal Darraji as Christian and American and defendant Yasir Darraji as Muslim and un-American." Dissent at 22–23. Accordingly, Judge Fearing stated he would reverse the conviction due to the "infection of racial, ethnic, and religious bias" at trial. *Id.* at 22.

E. ARGUMENT

1. This Court should take review to resolve any doubt the Zamora/Bagby standard applies to prosecutorial misconduct rooted in Islamophobia and all other forms of discrimination that intersect with race and ethnicity.

The Islamic religion has long served as a proxy for racial discrimination and conjures deep seated religious and cultural biases, particularly against Muslim men. Here, the prosecutor gratuitously interjected evidence of Ms. Darraji's Christianity and supposed "Americanization," and contrasted it with

harmful tropes about Islam's oppression of women that were unsupported by the record. As Judge Fearing noted in his dissent, "[t]he incessant reference to Christianity and Americanization served no purpose other than to arouse the jurors." Dissent at 21. The State's misconduct denied Mr. Darraji of a fair trial and requires this Court's review.

a. <u>It is misconduct for a prosecutor to infuse</u> race, nationalism, and religion into the trial.

A prosecutor's arguments based on racial, ethnic, and other stereotypes are antithetical to and impermissible in a fair and impartial trial. *State v. Monday*, 171 Wn.2d 667, 680, 257 P.3d 551 (2011); *Peña-Rodriguez v. Colorado*, 580 U.S. 206, 222 (2017). Courts must be "vigilant of conduct that appears to appeal to racial or ethnic bias even when not expressly referencing race or ethnicity." *State v. Zamora*, 199 Wn.2d 698, 714, 512 P.3d 512 (2022).

The objective observer standard controls when analyzing claims of prosecutorial misconduct involving racial bias. *State*

v. Bagby, 200 Wn.2d 777, 792-93, 522 P.3d 982 (2023). This stringent test applies due to concern about "the impact of racial bias" at trial, regardless of a prosecutor's intent. *Id*.

apparently intentionally appealed to jurors' potential racial bias," this Court asks whether "an objective observer could view the prosecutor's questions and comments as an appeal to jurors' potential prejudice, bias, or stereotypes in a manner that undermined the defendant's credibility or the presumption of innocence." *Id.* at 793. This standard presumes that the "objective observer" is a person who is "aware of the history of race and ethnic discrimination in the United States and aware of implicit, institutional, and unconscious biases, in additional to purposeful discrimination." *Zamora*, 199 Wn.2d at 718; *accord Bagby*, 200 Wn.2d at 801.

This Court recently reversed a conviction based upon the prosecutor's injection of racial bias in *Bagby*. There, the prosecutor's irrelevant, baseless focus on the Black defendant's

"nationality" created an "us-them" distinction that "prime[d] the jury to consider the incident through that lens." *Bagby*, 200 Wn.2d at 795. Similarly, in *Zamora*, the prosecutor's questions during voir dire concerning "unlawful immigration, border security, undocumented immigrants, and crimes committed by undocumented immigrants" amounted to race-based prosecutorial misconduct where the defendant was Latino. *Zamora*, 199 Wn. 2d at 701.

b. This Court should hold that the *Bagby* and *Zamora* objective observer standard applies when the prosecutor appeals to jurors' Islamophobia.

"Just as racism produced anti-Blackness, which then produced Blacks as a racial group and Black as a race, racism produced Islamophobia, which then produced the Muslim as a racial group and Islam as a race." Cyra Akila Choudhury, Racecraft and Identity in the Emergence of Islam as a Race, 91 U. Cin. L. Rev. 1, 17 (2022). Anti-Muslim "racism or differential treatment is based on the understanding that Islam is categorically different from and often opposed to Christian

European civilization." *Id.* at 50. The markers of the Islamic faith are what invokes the racial "othering"; for instance, even "a white woman in hijab becomes raced through Islam." *Id.* at 51.

Since the September 11, 2001 attacks, "the suspicion of Islam as a faith is central to the War on Terror political discourse and racialization of Arab and Middle Eastern Americans as terrorists." Khaled A. Beydoun, *Faith in Whiteness: Free Exercise of Religion As Racial Expression*, 105 Iowa L. Rev. 1475, 1490-91 (2020).

In a recent study of criminal stereotypes of Muslim Americans, participants' top choices of adjectives to describe Muslim Americans were religious (71 percent) and radical (61 percent), followed by hostile (32 percent), fundamentalist (30 percent), and criminal (25 percent). Joseph J. Avery, et. al, *Criminal Stereotypes of Muslim and Arab Americans and the Impact on Evaluations of Ambiguous Criminal Evidence*, 51 J. Legal Stud. 177, 183 (2022). In this study, people were more

likely to convict Muslim-American defendants when accused of a "stereotype-consistent crime of terrorism" than one that did not draw on the stereotypes associated with religious fundamentalism. *Id.* at 201-02.

Bias against and distrust of Muslims has currency in the Spokane community were Mr. Darraji was tried; in 2015, the elected Spokane prosecutor had to apologize for his wife posting the on-line comment, "I do not trust Muzlims no matter what." The Columbian, *Spokane prosecutor apologizes for wife's Muslim comments*," March 4, 2015.⁶

Yet the majority below expressed doubt that *Zamora* and *Bagby*'s standard for racial and ethnic prosecutorial misconduct applied to the anti-Muslim rhetoric employed in Mr. Darraji's trial. Specifically, the Court of Appeals stated that "[w]hile religion and culture are closely tied to ethnicity, they are not the

6

https://www.columbian.com/news/2015/mar/04/spokane-prosecutor-apologizes-for-wife-musli/

same and there may be reasons to apply a different standard."

Slip Op. at 21. While the majority applied the *Bagby* standard, it noted that it was not "foreclosing further debate on the issue." *Id.* at 22.

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