# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/24/2025 3:41 PM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

### Supreme Court No. 104317-1 COA No. 39421-2-III

### IN THE SUPREME COURT

### OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# STATE OF WASHINGTON, Plaintiff/Respondent

v.

YASIR DARRAJI, Defendant/Petitioner.

### ANSWER TO DEFENDANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

PRESTON MCCOLLAM
Acting Official Prosecuting Attorney

Alexis M. Lundgren Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

County-City Public Safety Building West 1100 Mallon Spokane, Washington 99260 (509) 477-3662

### **

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

The idea that law enforcement stereotyped Mr. Darraji as an individual who would commit an honor killing based on his connection to the Iraqi community is unfounded. Police were guided by the evidence coming directly from individuals within the Iraqi community who knew the Darrajis.

The same is true of the State's presentation at trial. The State did not manufacture its theory of the case based on stereotypes, but on direct and circumstantial evidence that even the dissenting judge agreed was relevant to establish the motive for the crime. *See Dissent* at 1.

While Mr. Darraji claims this Court should accept review of this issue under RAP 13.4(b)(3) to foreclose further debate as to whether the heightened standard for race-based prosecutorial misconduct applies to claims where religion and culture are intertwined with ethnicity, Pet. at 5, 20-21, this case is a poor vehicle for such a debate for several reasons.

First, even under the race-based prosecutorial misconduct standard, Mr. Darraji cannot demonstrate error. In *State v. Bagby*, 200 Wn.2d 777, 794, 522 P.3d 982 (2023), this Court outlined the relevant factors to determine whether a prosecutor's conduct apparently appealed to racial bias. Those factors include

"the content and subject of the statements, the frequency of the remarks, the apparent purpose of the statements, and whether the comments were based on evidence or reasonable inferences in the record." *Id*.

Here, as it relates to the first two *Bagby* factors, the challenge does not appear to be simply to one or two select comments from the prosecutor, but an objection (made for the first time on appeal) to the entire trial theory and the admission of testimony and exhibits in support of that theory. But as discussed above, the State's theory was based on evidence received from multiple individuals who knew the Darrajis and were familiar with the cultural differences between their community in Iraq and the United States, rendering the premise for this challenge both not borne out by the record, but also falling outside the typical understanding of a prosecutorial misconduct allegation, in that it questions the police

investigation's conclusions as a prerequisite to the misconduct claim.

Had this been a case in which the police identified Mr. Darraji as an Iraqi man and concluded on that basis alone that the murder of his wife was an honor killing, the State would agree the conclusions were based on stereotypes and that pursuing such a theory at trial would be prosecutorial misconduct. Under *Bagby*'s factor test, the use of stereotypes, unsupported by the evidence, would be a clear appeal to racial bias.

But that is not what happened in this case. Here, based on evidence from numerous witnesses including Mr. Darraji, the police concluded the murder was an honor killing. The State proceeded to trial on that evidence in support of its theory that Ms. Darraji's lifestyle changes, including not just a conversion to Christianity, but also changes in dress, going to bars, drinking

alcohol, and extramarital sex, upset Mr. Darraji because they did not fit with his culture and motivated the murder. Even with respect to the photograph of the Darraji's daughter bowed in prayer in traditional dress, though the State did not later explicitly connect the photograph to its theory, the photograph was not unrelated to the case, but was taken by Mr. Darraji around the time of Ms. Darraji's attack on Mr. al Karawi at Winco, and is also not offensive or even particularly notable. Contrary to Mr. Darraji's argument, which implicitly assumes that an image of a woman praying in traditional dress is somehow offensive or unusual, that image is not uncommon and was merely cumulative of the other evidence at trial that Ms. Darraji's non-traditional lifestyle choices were a source of conflict between her and Mr. Darraji. The evidence was properly introduced to establish motive and was based on evidence, as required by the third and fourth *Bagby* factors.

This case is entirely different than *Bagby* and *State v*. *Zamora*, 199 Wn.2d 698, 512 P.3d 512 (2022). In *Bagby*, the prosecutor asked nearly every witness about the defendant's "nationality," distinguished the defendant from other witnesses by race, and associated "whiteness with being American and Blackness as un-American," despite the fact that the charged crimes of residential burglary, fourth degree assault, and harassment had no connection with race. 200 Wn.2d. at 795-96.

Similarly, in *Zamora*, the prosecutor repeatedly raised issues of unauthorized immigration, crime at the border, and border security during jury selection for a trial in which the defendant was a Latino man despite the lack of any relevance or connection between issues of immigration and the charged crime of third degree assault. 199 Wn.2d at 701-23. In each of those cases, the prosecutor raised issues of race or nationality that had no relevance to the crimes charged or connection to the evidence,

indicating the reason for references to those topics was intended to improperly appeal to racial or ethnic bias against the defendants.

But in this case, the evidence established that the lifestyle changes Ms. Darraji made after moving to the United States were the motive for the murder, which is a proper basis for admission. *See, e.g., State v. Dhaliwal*, 150 Wn.2d 559, 579-80, 79 P.3d 432 (2003). The State introduced the evidence to prove, in a circumstantial case with no direct eyewitnesses to the murder, Mr. Darraji was the individual who killed Ms. Darraji and that he did so because of those lifestyle changes. The State did not admit any of the evidence to appeal to juror bias, but to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Darraji committed the crime.

Second, this case presents a poor vehicle for review because the defense theory relied on the same cultural differences as a basis for pointing the finger at Mr. al Karawi,

who Ms. Darraji hit with a shoe in public just weeks before her murder, and who lived a block and a half from where her burning body was found. *See, e.g.*, RP 778-80, 1092, 1169, 1245, 1477, 1481-85, 1489, 1496, 1509-10, 1841, 1850-51, 1928, 2205, 2207, 2212-13; 2RP 65, 70, 81, 85, 108, 185. There has been no allegation in this case that defense counsel provided ineffective assistance on this basis.

This Court should decline review because this issue does not meet the criteria for review in RAP 13.4(b)(3). No constitutional issue is implicated where even under the race-based prosecutorial misconduct analysis, Mr. Darraji fails to demonstrate the State attempted to appeal to juror bias.

# B. DIVISION THREE PROPERLY DECLINED REVIEW OF THE HEARSAY CHALLENGES BECAUSE THEY WERE NOT PRESERVED BELOW AND WERE INADEQUATELY BRIEFED ON APPEAL.

Mr. Darraji claims the trial court made several evidentiary errors related to admission, through Mr. Nahi, of Ms. Darraji's

hearsay statements about her fear and asserts Division Three's decision on this issue—declining review on issue preservation and inadequate briefing grounds—warrants review by this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(1), arguing it conflicts with binding precedent from this Court. Slip op. at 39-40; Pet. 5-6, 34-40.

Additional factual background demonstrates Division Three properly found Mr. Darraji's appellate arguments were not preserved at trial. Numerous pretrial motions were heard in this case before and during trial. As it relates to Mr. Nahi's testimony, the State moved in limine to permit testimony about Iraqi culture under ER 107 related to treatment of women and how certain facts or statements at issue in the case would be perceived in that culture. RP 205-07, 1884. Defense counsel specifically stated he did not object to the State introducing such evidence, but instead questioned whether proper foundation could be laid as to whether the witness had sufficient knowledge of the Darrajis' particular

tribe and its customs. RP 208-09. The trial court granted the State's motion but stated defense should object in trial if insufficient foundation was laid. RP 210. No foundation objection was lodged during testimony. RP 1525-37, 1540.

The State also moved to admit evidence of the kidnapping in Iraq and prior assaults Mr. Darraji committed against Ms. Darraji under ER 404(b), but the trial court denied the motion largely because, as Ms. Darraji was dead, no non-hearsay testimony could be produced to prove those assaults. CP 76, 137, 118-19, 344-45; RP 696-97.

Last, the State moved to admit Mr. Nahi's statements that the last time he saw Ms. Darraji, she was afraid for her life due to rumors being spread about her under the hearsay exception for then-existing mental state, which was relevant to whether Ms. Darraji believed Mr. Darraji's threat to kill her was a true threat. RP 1521-24. Mr. Darraji objected, agreeing it was

admissible for the harassment charge, but stating its admission for the murder charge would be prejudicial and violate the right to confrontation. RP 1523-24. The trial court held Mr. Nahi could testify to Ms. Darraji's statements about her fear and the reasons for her fear under *State v. Parr*, 93 Wn.2d 95, 606 P.2d 263 (1980), but that he could not relay any threats Ms. Darraji said Mr. Darraji made to her. RP 754-58.

Mr. Nahi's testimony included cumulative evidence about the rumors circulating about Ms. Darraji's behavior, Ms. Darraji expressing to him that she was afraid Mr. Darraji would kill her because of the seriousness of the rumors, and her belief Mr. Darraji was spreading those rumors. RP 1536-37, 1728, 1752, 1843-44, 1856-57, 2109-11.

After Mr. Nahi testified, defense counsel objected, arguing the State had violated the court's ruling by eliciting testimony of the actual threat Mr. Darraji made to kill

Ms. Darraji. RP 1539-40. The court overruled the objection, explaining the witness had testified only to Ms. Darraji's fear Mr. Darraji would kill her, not to his threat that he would kill her. RP 1541-42.

A limiting instruction was given, instructing the jury that the evidence of Ms. Darraji's fear could be considered only for the purpose of evaluating the harassment charge and not for any other purpose, which instruction the prosecutor reiterated in closing argument. RP 2164, 2193. Defense never moved to sever the counts for trial and never moved for a new trial.

On appeal, Mr. Darraji claimed that Mr. Nahi's testimony that Ms. Darraji believed Mr. Darraji was spreading the rumors about her violated the trial court's ER 404(b) ruling. App. Br. at 55. But the subject of the ER 404(b) motion and ruling, as stated above, was admission of Ms. Darraji's hearsay statements of her kidnapping in Iraq and that Mr. Darraji had physically abused

her. The source of the rumors was never a subject of discussion. *See* CP 118-19; RP 264-65, 696-97. Furthermore, Mr. Darraji did not object on these grounds at trial. *See* RP 1536. Division Three therefore properly declined to review this unpreserved issue. Slip op. at 37-40.

With respect to Mr. Nahi's testimony about Ms. Darraji's fear, Mr. Darraji's argument at Division Three was that her fear was irrelevant because the State ultimately presented insufficient evidence to establish that the specific threat to kill it relied on (the one Mr. Darraji made to Ms. Suwaed) was never communicated by Ms. Suwaed to Ms. Darraji. App. Br. at 49-58. In other words, the testimony was irrelevant because her fear was not connected to the specific threat that formed the basis for the harassment charge.

However, as Division Three properly found, Mr. Darraji did not object on these grounds at trial, so the issue was

unpreserved. In addition, on appeal, Division Three properly found that Mr. Darraji failed to explain why he was prejudiced by the admission of evidence that was explicitly limited to the harassment charge, which the State conceded needed to be reversed on sufficiency grounds, and where a jury is presumed to follow its instructions. Slip. op. at 39; *State v. Stein*, 144 Wn.2d 236, 247, 27 P.3d 184 (2001).

This claim also would have failed on the merits, had Division Three reached it because, even if the evidence had been admitted in error, not only was it cumulative of other non-hearsay testimony that Mr. Darraji spread such rumors, *see* RP 1728, 1752, 1843-44, 1856-57, but it also paled in comparison to the evidence that less than one month before killing Ms. Darraji, Mr. Darraji nearly got in a car accident while angrily yelling, "I will kill her, even if it takes me ten years,"

RP 1777, and also sent her family in Iraq messages that if she did not alter her behavior, she would get "the teeth":

...what happened and what was said. I told her I'd leave the kid and (unintelligible) it went to her head. It went to her head and she'll lose. She has one day to leave me alone and not do anything to me. After this day, on the second day, I am going to do things and she is going to lose things she doesn't know she'll lose. And she doesn't have anything against me. Let her be warned. I send you and my aunt Yusra my regards and tell – tell her (unintelligible) and tell her to stop – to leave me alone.

Ex. 95-96; RP 1922-24, 1960-61, 2111.

Abu Mohammad, good morning, my dear. How are you? My dear, say hello to my aunt Yusra and tell her that Yasir says to let her tell (unintelligible) that this is a warning and not a threat. She shouldn't play with the lion's tail, because she'll lose a lot of things that she doesn't know she'll lose. She'll lose a lot of things and she doesn't know yet. So, warn her not to play with me. (Unintelligible) and fuck Aqeel. I can deal with Aqeel or anyone who comes at me. I am not afraid of Aqeel or anybody. But I don't want to deal with this — ahh- (unintelligible) Aqeel (unintelligible). Ibtihal (unintelligible) a request. Ibtihal told me to call her, that she wanted to talk to me (unintelligible) and sent me (unintelligible) on WhatsApp. I don't want to deal with these

conversations. I'm not afraid of them, you know me, but I don't want to deal with this sort of conversation about what happened and rumors.

Ex. 97-98.

Review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) is not warranted on this issue because Division Three's decision does not conflict with precedent from this Court where review was declined due to lack of error preservation and inadequate briefing.

## C. DIVISION THREE PROPERLY FOUND MR. DARRAJI FAILED TO PRESERVE OR ADEQUATELY BRIEF HIS RULE-BASED SPEEDY TRIAL CLAIM.

While Mr. Darraji argues review of his rule-based speedy trial claim is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(2), which permits review where a court of appeals decision is in conflict with a published court of appeals decision, he focuses only on his claim that the trial court had insufficient evidence to grant a continuance and not on the reasons Division Three declined review. App. Br. at 6, 40-43. Division Three declined review of

this issue because it found both that Mr. Darraji failed to timely object under CrR 3.3 to the trial setting as required in *State v*. *Walker*, 199 Wn.2d 796, 513 P.3d 111 (2022), and that, having not provided the court with a speedy trial calculation demonstrating trial was set outside speedy trial, Mr. Darraji's briefing was inadequate for review. Slip op. at 34-35. Neither of these grounds for declining review conflict with appellate precedent. Review of this issue is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

D. DIVISION THREE PROPERLY DECLINED REVIEW OF THE UNPRESERVED AGGRAVATOR UNANIMITY ISSUE WHERE MR. DARRAJI DID NOT ESTABLISH A MANIFEST CONSTITUTIONAL ERROR.

Mr. Darraji argues review of whether the jury was required to be given a unanimity instruction as to the facts underlying the destructive and foreseeable impact aggravator is

warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3), arguing it presents a significant question of constitutional law.

However, Division Three declined review of this issue because Mr. Darraji raised this issue for the first time on appeal and then failed to establish a manifest constitutional error by failing to cite any applicable cases requiring unanimity as to facts underlying a sentencing aggravator. Declining review for failure to establish a manifest constitutional error where a party has cited no applicable authority in support of its position does not present a significant question of constitutional law. This Court should decline review finding the issue is not subject to review under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

## E. DIVISION THREE PROPERLY FOLLOWED THIS COURT'S DECISION THAT AGGRAVATING FACTORS ARE NOT SUBJECT TO VAGUENESS CHALLENGES.

Mr. Darraji claims this Court should accept review of whether sentencing aggravators are subject to constitutional

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